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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Quarters A is a 2-1/2 story Elemish bond brick structure situated on the
crest of a hill in the Washington Navy Yard. It is east of the Main Gate at
8th and M Streets, S.E. and faces Leutze Park in the direction of the Ana-
costia River. The original house, of late Georgian design with a symmetrical
five-bay front, has been substantially Victorianized by additions and leng-
thening of the windows.

The original rectangular main block of the house is 48'2" (five bays)
wide by 32' 2-1/2" (three bays) deep. '"The three central bays project
slightly forward and carry a pedimented cross:. gable with a.semicircular
lunette. The house has a molded brick water table, a belt course, and a
modillion cornice with paired brackets. The aenfinance door has a semicircular
glazed fanlight transom and sidelights., The central bay on the second floor
is a palladian window., The windows have splayed voussadwr flat arch lintéils
with keystones. The cornice continues uninterrupted across the East and West
ends of the house creating pedimented end gables. An elaborate late 19th...
centary-enclosed porch and advanced porte-cochere completely envelop a small
pedimented wooden entrance porch, possibly original, and mask the entire "
South and East side of the ground floor, To the North are two-story service
wings and later additions. The original window sash and dormer windows of
the main house have been replaced. The two interior end chimneys each carry
four flues,

The house has a central hall plan. On the first floor there is a large
parlor on the West side with two fireplaces, and on the East side another
parlor with a small cross hall behind it., The dining room, library, and
kitchen are in the wing and additions to the North, The second floor has
four bedrooms and the attic, two chambers. The house was extensively
renovated and retrimmed in the mid-19th century. The marble mantel pieces
date from that period. The double fireplaces in the West parlor have modern
'"colonial" mantels. The stairway is a two-run stair with abnormally steep
risers, It is also a mid-century replacement. The basement has a concrete
floor. The brick foundation walls have been substantially rebuilt or replaced
as have the floor joists and subflooring for the first floor. The grounds
around the house have also been relandscaped and enriched on numerous occa-
sions. The present garden to the South and to the East of the house has con-
crete walkways, cast iron lamp standards, and an enclosing iron fence. On
the North side of the garden is the high North wall that encloses the Navy
Yard,” The many additions to the exterior of the house have for the most part
covered up, but not destroyed, the original fabricg Very little remains of
the original énterior except on the attic floor. The exterior should receive
a sensitive restoration, whereas the interior is better left to retain its
late-19th century appearance.'
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE .,
The Joint Committee on Landmarks has designated Quarters A of the Wash-

ington Navy Yard, popularly known as the Tingey House, a Category II Land-
mark of importance which contributes significantly to the cultural heritage
and visual beauty of the District of Columbia. Constructed in 1804, Tingey
House was one of the earliest buildings erected at the Washington Navy Yard,
our foremost early navy yard. It was one of the few public buildings not
seriously damaged in the British invasion of the Capital in 1814, It has
served as the residence for all of the Washington Yard's commandants,
including its first, Captain Thomas Tingey, an important figure in the early
history of Washington. The original 2-1/2 story Georgian style townhouse
has been enlarged and remodelled several times. It still retains much of
its original character and could be successfully restored on the exterior.

A good deal of uncertainty has surrounded the construction date of
Quarters A, but it can now be stated with assurance that the house was con-
structed in 1804. The major source of confusion has been due to the dis-
cussion in the pre-1814 period of three different houses for the head of
the Washington Navy Yard. The first mention of such a building is in an
October 10, 1801, order from Secretary of the Navy Smith for the construc-
tion of "a house to accomodate the officer of Marines and the Superintendent
of the Navy Yard.'" This house, the present Quarters B, was erected late in
1801, but the Yard's Superintendent, Thomas Tingey, remained in a rented
house on the corner of 1lth and G Streets, S.E. When Captain John Cassin
was Lemporarily appointed the Yard's commander on April 7, 1803, he was also
assigned other quarters, a cabin on the frigate United States.

On March 28, 1804, Secretary of the Navy Smith again ordered that plans
and a cost estimate be prepared for a house for the Washington Navy Yard's
Superintendent, "a Brick House...to be constructed in a substantial and
duraple mannetr = and on the most suitable spot in the yard," This house was
soon constructed and it is cited in Benjamin Latrobe's 1804 plan of the
Yard, & sketch of the Main Gate section of the Yard in a July 10, 1805
Latrobe letter to Shadrach Davis, and an August 1812 letter from Latrobe to
Tingey. Confusion arises from the fact that Captain Cassin remained quar-
tered in the building even after Tingey reassumed command of the Yard on
November 23, 1804. Thus the building is denoted as Captain Cassin's house
in Latrobe's 1804 plan of the Washington Yard, and Latrobe discusses the
construction of a new house for the "first officer of the yard."

(Continued on Form 10-300a)
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Record Group 45. Records Collection of the Office of Naval Records and Libra-

Kane, James. Capkain Tingey, M.,A, Thesis American University, 1956. ''The
Papers of Benjamin Latrobe,' Maryland Historical Society. National Archives

ry. a)"Miscellaneous Records Received by the Sec, of Navy 1798-1868." Micro-
copy, 124 Roll 53 Letter 79. b) “Miscellaneous Letters Sent by the Sec. of
Navy, 1801-1884'" Miecrocopy 149 Roll 6 p. 45. Tingey House. Naval District
Washington, D,C, 1966, Historic American Buildings Survey (DC-12) photos,
E;;?s, and data pages., National Survey of/Historic Sites and Buildings, 1970
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8, Significance=--Quarters A

This notion of quarters for the Commandant in the Washington Navy Yard
was again proposed in a February 7, 1807, letter from Tingey to Secretary of
the Navy Smith in which he asks that "Mr. Latrobe be directed to furnish a
plan" for such a house, This building, howeéver, was never constructed, and
only after Cassin was ordered to assume command of the Navy Yard at Gosport
was Tingey able to move into Quarters A, in August of 1812,

While Quarters A's construction date is now known, its architect remains
a mystery. The house was constructed before Benjamin Latrobe completed his
master plan of the Yard, and in a February 2, 1813, letter to Secretary of the
Navy William Jones, he states that he is not responsible for the house's
design., The only other architect known to have worked in the Yard during that
early period was the firm of Lovering and Dyer. Another house in the vicinity
of Lovering's design--The Maples erected in 1795-96=--does resemble Quarters
A in its principal elements. It is possible that Lovering designed Quarters
A, but no documentary evidence to support this attribution has yet been found.

Tingey House derives its name from the Washington Navy Yard's first
Commandant, Thomas Tingey, who lived in the house from 1812 until his death
in 1829, 1In the small town society of an infant city, the head of one of its
major institutions had a major role to play. Tingey was a member of the 1802
committee which successfully petitioned Congress to authorize a local govern-
ment for the city, and he was later an organizer of the city's first
publicly=-supported school and Congressional Cemetery.,

Captain Tingey took an active part in Washingtm's economic activities
beyond his role as Commandant of the Yard. He served as an agent for the
trustees for Morris, Greenleaf and Nicholson, the most ambitious of the city's
early real estate speculators, and "bought and sold lots in the Navy Yard
Section." He purchased stock in the local canal and bridge companies and was
a director of the Commercial Company. Tingey was also prominent in the Wash-
ington social world. He was an organizer of Mddison's first Inaugural Ball in
1809 and included James and Dolly Madison, John Quincy Adams, Mr, and Mrs.
Benjamin Labrobe and Dr, and Mrs. William Thornton among his friends.

The Tingey House has served as the residence of all of the Navy Yard's
Commandant's from Tingey to the present time, including in its list of inhabi-
tants such illustrious figures as Captain John Dahlgren, the renowned naval gurn
designer. A master plan done for the Washingtm Navy Yard in 1966 proposes
that the house continue to play this historic role.
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